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1 PROCEEDINGS
)

The following proceedings(August 8, 2018:2

commenced at 9:30 a.m.:)3

THE COURT: Okay. This is the time4

scheduled for an initial appearance, waiver of5

indictment and change of plea in the matter entitled6

United States of America versus James Butchee.7

Would counsel please note their appearances8

9 for the record.

10 Good morning, Your Honor,MR. RODENBIKER:

Jake Rodenbiker for the United States.11

12 Stormy Vickers forMR. VICKERS:

13 Mr. Butchee.O
THE COURT: And, Mr. Butchee, would you14

please stand and raise your right hand. The clerk's15

going to administer an oath to you to tell the truth.16

Please raise your right hand.17 THE CLERK:

(Oath administered.)18

19 Okay. Please be seated.THE CLERK:

20 THE COURT: Mr. Butchee, there was an

Did you get a21 Information that was filed against you.

22 copy of that?

23 Yes .THE DEFENDANT:

24 And that is the charge that'sTHE COURT:

25 been brought against you for conspiracy to possess withU
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the intent to distribute and distribute a controlled1O
and I'11 have the United States read that to2 substance,

you so I make sure that you understand what the charge3

i s .4

5 The United States AttorneyMR. RODENBIKER:

charges from on or about January 1, 2016, and6

December 9, 2016, in the Districts of North Dakota,7

Minnesota and elsewhere, James Marione Butchee a/k/a8

Knowledge, did knowingly and intentionally combine,9

conspire, confederate and agree with others both known10

and unknown to possess with intent to distribute and11

12 distribute a mixture and substance containing a

13 detectable amount of heroin, a Schedule I controlled

substance, in violation of Title 21, United States Code,14

Sections 841(a) (1), and Title 18, United States Code,15

16 Section 2.

17 In furtherance of thisOvert acts:

18 conspiracy and to effect and accomplish the objects of

19 it, one or more of the conspirators committed the

20 following overt acts: 1. It was a part of said

21 conspiracy that the defendant and others did possess

22 with intent to distribute and distribute a mixture and

23 substance containing a detectable amount of heroin, a

24 Schedule I controlled substance, within the states of

25 North Dakota, Minnesota, and elsewhere;U
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It was further a part of said conspiracy2 .1O
that the defendant and others would and did attempt to2

conceal their activities;3

It was further a part of said conspiracy3 .4

that the defendant and others would and did use5

telecommunication facilities;6

It was further a part of said conspiracy4 .7

that the defendant and others would and did use United8

States currency in their drug transactions; and in9

violation of Title 21, United States Code, Section 846,10

U.S., 328 U.S. 640 (1946), signed Brett M.11 Pinkerton v.

Shasky for the United States Attorney.12

Mr. Butchee, do you understand13 THE COURT:

the Information charges you with conspiracy to possess14

with intent to distribute or to distribute a controlled15

16 substance ?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.17

You do have the right to hire18 THE COURT:

your own lawyer or if you don't have money to hire a19

lawyer the Court will appoint a lawyer to represent you.20

Do you want Mr. Vickers to continue representing you?21

Yeah, I gotta I was22 THE DEFENDANT: my

people was trying to, you know, trying to hire a lawyer,23

I don't know whoever they gotyou know what I'm saying?24

on that though, you know.25V
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So do you have money right now1 THE COURT:

2 to hire your own lawyer?

THE DEFENDANT: Nah.3

So since you don't have money4 THE COURT:

right now do you want Mr. Vickers to keep representing5

6 you?

So are you saying I could7 THE DEFENDANT:

That's what you're saying?8 have a different attorney?

I'm saying you can either9 THE COURT: No.

Vickers.hire your own lawyer or you can have Mr.10

THE DEFENDANT: Oh, okay, okay. I'll stay11

12 with Mr. Vickers.

You do have the right to13 THE COURT: Okay.O
I want you to be aware thata preliminary hearing.14

If you haveyou're not required to make any statement.15

I f you16 made a statement you do not need to say more.

you can stop at any time but17 start to make a statement,

any statements that you make can be used against you in18

Do you understand that?19 future proceedings.

So any statement that I make20 THE DEFENDANT:

21 right now can be used against me?

THE DEFENDANT: Right. Anything that you22

23 say here in public court could be used against you

24 later. Do you understand that?

25 With the change of plea?THE DEFENDANT:U
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For instance, if you admittedTHE COURT:1

during the change of plea hearing that you possessed 

heroin and distributed it to someone else and then later

2

3

on you wanted to withdraw your plea, the statements that4

you make here today can be used against you if the case5

went to trial or it could be used against you during6

Anything that you say here inyour sentencing hearing.7

open court could be used against you by the government8

later. Do you understand that?9

Yeah, I understand. I was10 THE DEFENDANT:

told that it wasn't supposed to be used against me11

though like if I you know, I12

Do you think that anything you13 THE COURT:O
say here in Court can't be used against you?14

I was told it wasn'tTHE DEFENDANT: No.15

supposed to be used against me though.16

THE COURT: Okay. Well, I'm letting you17

know that'it can be.18

THE DEFENDANT: Oh, okay.19

Do you understand that?20 THE COURT:

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I understand.21

THE COURT: Okay. Mr. Rodenbiker, would you22

inform the defendant of the possible maximum penalties23

24 on this charge?

Your Honor, as charged25 MR. RODENBIKER:U
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under the Information, the maximum penalty is a term of10
imprisonment of 20 years, a fine of $1 million,2

supervised release for a period of five years and a3

special assessment of a hundred dollars as well as4

restitution to any identifiable victim.5

Mr. Butchee, do you understand6 THE COURT:

what the possible maximum penalties are if you do plead7

8 guilty?

Yeah, 20 years, yes.9 THE DEFENDANT:

THE COURT: Right, a maximum of 20 years.10

Maximum of 20 years?11 THE DEFENDANT:

12 THE COURT: Right. Now I'm going to talk

talk with you about whether you're willing to13 aboutO
waive your right to be indicted by a grand jury so I've14

got a couple questions to ask you first. Can you tell15

16 me your full name?

James Marione Butchee.17 THE DEFENDANT:

18 And how old are you?THE COURT:

I'm 33.19 THE DEFENDANT:

How far did you go in school?20 THE COURT:

21 THE DEFENDANT: Twelfth grade.

22 Did you graduate?THE COURT:

23 THE DEFENDANT: I got my GED.

24 And have you been employedTHE COURT:

25 recently?
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1 THE DEFENDANT: Yes.n
Where at?2 THE COURT:

Work at a barbershop.3 THE DEFENDANT:

And it sounds like you do speakTHE COURT:4

and understand English?5

6 THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

Are you currently or have you7 THE COURT:

recently been under the care of a physician or a8

psychiatrist?9

10 THE DEFENDANT: No.

Have you been hospitalized11 THE COURT:

12 recently?

13 THE DEFENDANT: No.O
Have you been treated for a14 THE COURT:

narcotics addiction recently?15

16 THE DEFENDANT: No.

Have you had any drugs, medicine17 THE COURT:

or pills or any alcoholic beverages to drink in the last18

19 24 hours?

20 THE DEFENDANT: No.

And did you get a copy of the21 THE COURT:

Information that's the charge that's pending against22

23 you ?

THE DEFENDANT: Yeah. Right here?24

25 THE COURT: Yup.vj
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THE DEFENDANT: Yeah.1O
So that charge was brought by2 THE COURT:

signing and filing the3 the U.S. Attorney filing

You have a constitutional right to beInformation.4

charged by an Indictment that's brought by the grand5

jury but you can waive the right to be indicted and you6

can consent to being charged by an Information that's7

Unless you waive8 filed by the U.S. Attorney.

you can't be charged with a felony in9 Indictment,

Federal Court unless the grand jury finds by return of10

Indictment that there's probable cause to believe11 an

that a crime was committed and that you're the person12

If you do not waive13 that committed the crime.O
Indictment, the government can present the case to the14

grand jury and ask the grand jury to indict you.15

And a grand jury is made up of at least 1616

and at least 12 of theand not more than 23 persons,' 17

grand jurors would listen to the evidence and find that18

there is probable cause to believe that you committed19

the crime that you're charged with before you could be20

The grand jury would listen21 indicted by the grand jury.

to the evidence and they either may or may not indict22

If you waive being indicted by the grand jury,23 you.

24 your case will proceed against you on the U.S.

attorney's Information just as if you had been indicted.25
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Have you talked with your lawyer about1

whether you're willing to waive your right to be2

indicted by the grand jury?3

No, we ain't talked aboutTHE DEFENDANT:4

5 that.

Can I have just a second,MR. VICKERS:6

7 Judge ?

(Mr. Vickers conferring with Defendant8

9 But chee.)

Your Honor, I'll just explainMR. VICKERS:10

that part of the Pleareal quick. We have discussed11

Agreement was that he would be pleading to an12r

Information in lieu of the Indictment that's been filed13O
and the agreement called for him to agree to the14

And so I've advised him that IInformation obviously.15

believe that this is in effect what we have discussed16

So I think that hejust in perhaps different terms.17

will be willing to waive but obviously I'll let him18

answer to that.19

Mr. Butchee, did you have a20 THE COURT:

chance to talk with your attorney about whether you're21

willing to waive the right to be indicted by a grand22

23 j ury ?

No, we ain't talked about itTHE DEFENDANT:24

though.25O
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Do you understand that you do1 THE COURT:

have the right to be indicted by the grand jury?2

Yeah, I understand that. So3 THE DEFENDANT:

is thatthe first Indictment is getting dismissed and4

5 correct though?

THE COURT: Right. So under the Plea6

Agreement the government agreed that if you plead to7

this Information then they would dismiss the Indictment.8

THE DEFENDANT: Okay.9

If I may, at sentencing,10 MR. RODENBIKER:

Your Honor, so it wouldn't be today.11

So the Indictment would be12 THE COURT:

dismissed after you're sentenced on this charge, the one13

that's in the Information.14

So none of them aggravating15 THE DEFENDANT:

factors would apply to me then, is that correct, from16

the first Indictment?17

THE COURT: Right. The first Indictment18

charged you with conspiracy to possess with the intent19

to distribute or distribute a controlled substance20

The Information only charges youresulting in death.21

with conspiracy to possess with intent to distribute or22

It doesn't have thedistribute a controlled substance.23

aggravating factor of resulting in death. Because of24

that change, the penalty on the Information is lower so25U
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Withit has a maximum penalty of 20 years in prison.1O
the aggravating impact of resulting in death, you would2

have had a mandatory minimum sentence of 20 years and a3

So that's the difference between themaximum of life.4

two charges.5

THE DEFENDANT: Okay. So what is the6

minimum on the Information?7

There is no minimum. There's8 THE COURT:

It just has a maximum of 20not a mandatory minimum.9

10 years.

THE DEFENDANT: Oh, okay, okay.11

THE COURT: And I know you just talked with12

your attorney now about whether you're willing to waive13C)
the right to be indicted and allow the case to proceed14

forward against you based on the Information. Have you15

had a chance to discuss that enough with your lawyer or16

do you need more time?17

(VT H E DEFENDANT:} So on theNo, that's okay .18

quantity is not an issue then19 Information no quantity

because it wasn't20

'THE COURT:} No quantity is charged in the21

Information.22

So at sentencing there23 THE DEFENDANT:

wouldn't be no, you know, discrepancies about that or am24

I'm just asking.25 I right?
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'THE COURTV I don't know if there are going1n
to be discrepancies at sentencing because I don't know2

what the Presentence Investigation Report will indicate.3

All I know is they haven't charged a quantity so there's4

not a mandatory minimum and the maximum penalty that5

could be imposed is 20 years.
^ 'i(THE DEFENDANT:

6

So we got a binding don' t7

we have a binding agreement then what the penalty is?8

?'MR. VICKERS: Judge, and he has some9

Rodenbiker's going toquestions and I think what Mr.10

inform the Court as well that the language is confusing11

I thinkbut it is intended to be a binding agreement.12

paragraph five indicates that it is a binding agreement.13O
11(c)(1)(C) applies and we're making a binding14

recommendation in paragraph 17 of 136 months.15

THE COURT: Mr. Rodenbiker?16

•MR. RODENBIKER): Yes, Your Honor, that is17

I know I mentioned that I was18 correct. I was able

having trouble reaching the assigned AUSA but I was able19

by text message before the proceeding began to confirm20

intention to21 with him that it is the United States

present this under 11(c)(1)(C) and it does indicate that22

23 in paragraph five at the top of page 2 of the Plea

24 Agreement filed at docket 54.

The contradiction that concerned me25 well,



15

it's very unusual for us to do that so I hadn't1 one,n
noticed that until Mr. Vickers brought it to my2

But the contradiction that concerned me that3 attention.

I think can be resolved on the record is with respect to4

page 7 at the top, paragraph 16 of the Plea Agreement,5

which discusses whether or not the Court or probation6

And specifically itare bound by the Plea Agreement.7

does say "as to determining the Sentencing Guideline8

9 fAnd‘~t'h'ajt

paragraph is a standard part of our Plea Agreements and 

it seems to me to be contradictory or at least could bej 

•interpreted and being contradictory to the parties'/ 

intent to bind the Court as well as one another on the /

range" and that the Court may depart.

10

11

12

13O
136-month sentence that's presented in paragraph 17 jus.t 

'below that on page 7 . ?

14

15

And so what I wanted to clarify is that the16

United States intends to present this as a binding Plea 

Agreement under 11(c) (1) (C) ImcT that any language to the 

•contrary in paragraph 16 should be ’disregarded). [We can 

^debate whether it is actually contrary since it's jusli

;guideline calculations/"but at the end of the day I\

(think it's fair to say that we expect the sentence to be 

! 136 months and,I think that may be part of the ? 

-defendant's underlying question.) And I hope that I've 

resolved it and not made it more confusing.

17

18

19

20

/21

22

23
\ .

24
\ _

25



16

THE COURT f So you would amend the Plea1 i

Agreement to eliminate paragraph 16 so that there isn't2

3 any ambiguity?

RODENBIKER:\ I think that maybe the4 MR. vV-- -

cleanest way to do that, Your Honor, is to strike5

paragraph 16 of the Plea Agreement for the record here.6

And whether the Court is satisfied that we can do that7

orally or whether the Court wants us to file something8

But I think it will beafter, I'm open to suggestions.9

sufficient and I think especially given that probation10

is here today and is privy to this colloquy that11 has

it will be addressed properly in the Presentence12

Investigation Report when that's produced and that as13o
much as possible there won't be any confusion when it14

We recognize that it may very wellcomes to sentencing.15

be a different judge sitting on the bench at that point16

in time and that poses unique challenges as well but I17

don't know that doing it on the record versus filing an18

amended Plea Agreement will ultimately make any19

difference as far as clarity is concerned. And I regret20

that we didn't resolve this sooner,21 Your Honor.

' THE "COURT : I think doing it orally is fine.22

Mr. Vickers, do you agree that paragraph 16 should be23

deleted from the Plea Agreement?24

MR. VICKERS:25 I do, Your Honor.
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THE COURT: And, Mr. Butchee, do you also1n
agree that paragraph 16 should be deleted from the Plea2

3 Agreement ?

?THE .DEFENDANT-?4 Yes.

Then I'm going toTHE COURT: All right.5

grant that request to have paragraph 16 deleted from the6

So, Mr. Butchee, going back to your7 Plea Agreement.

question, the Plea Agreement is an 11(c)(1)(C) agreement8

which means that it's binding on the Court, and under9

that Plea Agreement if the Court accepts the Plea10

Agreement the Court would have to sentence you to 13611

The Court would be bound to do12 months' imprisonment.

13 that.o
So with that information do you want to14

waive your right to be indicted by the grand jury and15

proceed forward based on this Information that was filed16

against you by the U.S. Attorney's office?

(THE._.DE PENDANT.:- 7so if the Court accepts the

17

18

Plea Agreement right here at the change of plea, then19

it's bound at sentencing for the 136; am I right?20

If the Court accepts the Plea21 THE COURT:

22 Agreement, then the Court would be bound to sentence you

23 But probably what I will do today is notto 136 months.

24 find you guilty and wait until the Presentence

25 Investigation Report has been prepared so that the CourtU
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can decide whether or not to accept this Plea Agreement.1O
So I'd have you enter a plea but until the Presentence2

Investigation Report is prepared the Court can't say3

whether or not it's going to be bound by the 136 months.4

So if the Court decided it wasn't going to be bound then5

you'd be abTe"t'b' withdraw" yo’ur ' piea^ and proceed forward! 

THETT5E FEN D AN Tj:

THE COURT:

6

^0 kay7.7

But I don't know anything about8

I don't know anything about your case9 you so I can't -

I can't decide if 136 months is appropriate or not10 so

11 today.

12 THE DEFENDANT: Okay.

THE COURT: Okay?13O
14 THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

;(THE/ COURTj: So do you feel that you're at a15

point where you can give up your right to be indicted by16

the grand jury?17

[Ye si18 THE DEFENDANT:

And you've had a chance to talk19 THE COURT:

20 with your lawyer about that?

21 THE DEFENDANT: (Yes.

You understand that you do have22 THE COURT:

the right to be indicted by a grand jury?23

24 THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

Have any threats or promises25 THE COURT:
kJ
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been made to induce you into waiving your right to be1

indicted other than what's in the Plea Agreement?

<^THE"C0TJRT ") Do you wish to waive your right 

to be indicted by the grand jury?

THE DEFENDANT:

2

ma'am.3 THE DEFENDANT:

4

5

6

THE COURT: And, Mr. Vickers, are you aware7

of any reason why the defendant should not waive8

Indictment ?9

10 MR. VICKERS: No, Your Honor.

And do you have the Waiver of11 THE COURT:

Indictment form there?12

I do not have that form. I13 MR. VICKERS:O
apologize.14

fTHlfjSOUR tj

The record should reflect that the defendant

Here's one (indicating).15

16

and his attorney have both signed the Waiver of17

I find that theIndictment form here in open court.18

waiver is knowingly and voluntarily made by the19

defendant and it's hereby accepted and I've signed the20

21 order.

So, Mr. Butchee, we'll now move on to the22

change of plea part of the hearing and did you receive a23

which is the charge that'scopy of the Information,24

pending against you?25
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eslETHE DEFENDANT:1

And have you had a chance toTHE COURT:2

discuss that charge and your case in general with3

Mr. Vickers as your lawyer?4

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.5

THE COURT':' Are you fully satisfied with the6

counsel representation and advice that's been given to7

you about your case by Mr. Vickers?8

TCHE.-DE FEN DANT Ye sv.9

And I see that you signed a PleaTHE COURT:10

Agreement and a Plea Agreement Supplement that's - I11

see that you signed a Plea Agreement that was amended12

here orally in-court and a Plea Agreement Supplement.13O
Did you have a chance to read and discuss those14

documents with your lawyer before you signed them?15

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.16

And do the Plea Agreement and17 THE COURT:

the Plea Agreement Supplement represent in their18

entirety all of the understandings or agreements that19

you have with the government?20

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. Can I ask you a21

question?22

THE COURT: Sure.23

CTHE1.DEFENDANT": When we say that orally as24

you said which was going to amend that, my lawyer said25



21

So is therelike we might not have you for the judge.1n
anything like I can have like somebody write something2

in writing just in case it's a different judge?3

You want this in writing?THE COURT:4

Just in case it's aTHE DEFENDANT:5

different judge.6

(THE COUR^: So the court reporter's taking a7

transcript of everything that's said so if there was8

dispute she can prepare a transcript that will be9 some

in writing so that the judge will know.10

THE DEFENDANT: Oh, okay.

[THE COURTi? So if there's anything that 

comes up at the next hearing she can prepare that

11

12

13O
transcript. ■14

THE DEFENDANT: Okay.15

THE COURT: Okay?16

THE DEFENDANT: Okay.17

"COURT! ^So I'm trying to figure out if 

anybody, including the government, made you some

[THE18

19

promises that weren't written down in your Plea 

Agreement or the Plea Agreement Supplement other than

20

21

the amendment that we just talked about here in open22

court. Anything else?23

THE ~ DEFENDANTk^JSfq"?

THE COURT: Okay. Do you understand the

24

25O
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terms of the Plea Agreement and the Plea Agreement1

2 Supplement ?

3 THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

Has anyone made any promises orTHE COURT:4

assurances to you that are not in the Plea Agreement to5

try to persuade you to accept that document?6

THE' DEFENDANT: No, ma'am.

THE COURT: Has anyone threatened you in any

7

8

way to try to persuade you to sign the Plea Agreement9

and the Plea Agreement Supplement?10

.THE -DEFENDANT':
V-----------  ------------ -»
fTHE C~OURT

11(c)(1)(C) which is binding on the Court.

11 No .

Because this is a plea under12

If the judge13O
decides to not follow the terms of the Plea Agreement,14

then the judge will give you an opportunity to withdraw15

your plea of guilty and if you choose to not withdraw16

your plea then the judge could impose a more severe17

sentence without being bound by the Plea Agreement. Do18

19 you understand that?

THE 'DEFENDANT? '^YesT';20

Mr. Vickers, were all formal21 THE COURT:

plea offers by the government conveyed to your client?22

There were a23 MR. VICKERS: Yes, Your Honor.

there were a number of amendments and we24 number of

25 went back and forth a number of times with formal’vJ
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Also Mr. Butchee had a prior counsel that1 agreements.

it's my understanding had provided him with formal2

agreements in that case as well.3

Mr. Butchee, do you feel thatTHE COURT:4

you received all formal plea offers by the government?5

What do you mean "all formalTHE DEFENDANT:6

pleas"?7

So any offer that the governmentTHE COURT:8

made, did your lawyer tell you about it?9

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.10

Mr. Butchee, has anyoneTHE COURT:11

attempted in any way to force you to plead guilty today?12

THE DEFENDANT: No.13O
Has anyone threatened you to tryTHE COURT:14

to make you plead guilty?15

THE DEFENDANT: No.16

Are you pleading guilty of yourTHE COURT:17

own free will because you are guilty?18

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.19

The offense that you're pleadingTHE COURT:20

guilty to is conspiracy to possess with intent to21

distribute or distribute a controlled substance and that22

If I accept your plea as a result you may23 is a felony.

lose some valuable civil rights like the right to vote,24

the right to hold public office, the right to serve on a25U
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jury and the right to possess or carry any kind of

Do you realize you might lose those rights if

1

firearm.2

you plead guilty?3

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.4

[■THE C 0 U RT*: You're charged with conspiracy5

to possess with intent to distribute or distribute a6

I wanted to go over with you whatcontrolled substance.7

the possible maximum penalties are if you do plead8

There is a maximum period of imprisonment of 20guilty.9

a maximum fine of not more than a million dollars10 years,

If you are sentenced toor both prison and a fine.11

prison, it would be followed by a period of supervised12

If you violate any of therelease of three years.13O
conditions of your supervised release and it's revoked,14

you could be sentenced to an additional period in prison15

of not more than two years on each individual16

Restitution may be ordered and there's arevocation.17

$100 special assessment to the victims assistance fund.18

Do you understand that those are the19

possible maximum penalties that you face if you plead20

21 guilty?

Yes, ma'am.THE DEFENDANT:22

£THE_ COURT:^ In deciding your sentence the 

first thing the Court will look at is your advisory

23

24

guideline range under the federal Sentencing Guidelines.25
kJ
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In this case the Court would do that in deciding whether1n
or not to accept the binding Plea Agreement of both2

3 sides. Do you understand that?

4 THE DEFENDANT: Yes .

And the Court's either going toTHE COURT:5

and if it'saccept or reject that Plea Agreement,6

rejected then you would have the option to withdraw your7

You understand that?plea of guilty.8

9 THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

In the federal system parole has10 THE COURT:

been abolished so if you are sentenced to prison you11

will not get out early on federal parole. Do you12

13 understand that?o
14 THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

^THETjCOURT7-} In your Plea Agreement it 

indicates that you have waived, which means you've given

15

16

up, your right to appeal everything about your case17

except if the Court does not sentence you to the binding18

Plea Agreement you could appeal the sentence that was19

imposed. Do you understand that?20

21

'MR-.- VICKERS ?22 Your Honor, he also he ' s

he's worried that he's losing all of his 225523 going

rights and one of those is ^±rfelTfei5Tri've“ass'i'sTarrc^'-of., 

'.court s el^ a n d —T~ • th-ln'k^the ‘ Pie a • Ag re erne n t—s p e c if i cal 1-y s a y s,

24

25
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rh"e doesn't waive that^.1n
I was going to go over thatTHE COURT:2

So if the Court doesn't sentence you to the3 next.

agreed upon sentence, then you could appeal whether4

Do you understand that?that's done properly.5

If the Court doesn'tTHE DEFENDANT:6

don't I get to withdraw?sentence me to the 136,7

You could withdraw or the oTHE COURT:8

option you have is that you could appeal.9

THE DEFENDANT: Oh, okay.10

THE COURT: Either way.11

Yes, ma'am.THE DEFENDANT:12

fTHE’HCOURT-T And then you also have preserved13o
the right that if you think your lawyer is providing you14

with ineffective assistance of counsel you can bring a15

Do you understand that?separate action to claim that.16

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.17

^THE'" COURTj But other than those things18

Do you understandyou've given up your right to appeal.19

20 tha t ?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, ma'am.21

And do you understand that theTHE COURT:22

government does have the right to appeal?23

Yes, ma'am.THE DEFENDANT:24

You have the right to plead not25 THE COURT:O
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guilty to the offense that you're charged with and you1n
If you did so youcould continue on with that plea.2

During thewould have the right to a trial by jury.3

the Court would tell the jury thattrial you would4

you're presumed to be innocent and the burden is on the 

government to prove your guilt beyond a reasonable

5

6

7 doubt.

You would have the right to the assistance8

of a lawyer that would help you with your defense and if 

you didn't have money to hire your own lawyer one would

9

10

Your lawyerbe appointed by the Court to represent you.11

would represent you at trial and at every other stage of12

You would have the right to see andthe proceeding.13o
hear all the witnesses and have them cross-examined in14

On your part you'd have the right to notyour defense.15

testify unless you voluntarily gave up that right. If16

you had witnesses who you thought were helpful to your17

side of the case, subpoenas could be served on those18

witnesses and that would make them come here to court to19

20 testify.

If you decided not to testify or not to21

present any evidence, the Court would tell the jury that22

those facts can't be used against you; that the burden23

is on the government to prove your guilt beyond a24

If you enter a plea of guilty today,reasonable doubt.25
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there will not be a trial and you'll have given up all1n
of the other rights I just described to you. Do you2

3 understand that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.4

You're charged in the5 THE COURT:

Information with conspiracy to possess with the intent6

Ifto distribute and distribute a controlled substance.7

the case did go to trial the government would have to8

prove that from on or about January 1, 2016 through9

December 9, 2016, in the District of North Dakota, and10

elsewhere, two or more persons reached an agreement or11

came to an understanding to distribute a mixture or12

substance containing a detectable amount of heroin; that13O
you voluntarily and intentionally joined in the14

agreement or understanding either at the time it was15

first reached or at some later time while it was still16

in effect and that at the time you joined in the17

agreement or understanding you knew the purpose, of the18

agreement or understanding.19

Do you understand that that's what you're20

charged with and that's what the government would have21

to prove if the case did go to trial?22

Yeah, I understand what I23 THE DEFENDANT:

understand what you're saying but I thought I'm just24

It's just me.I thought I'm just pleading guilty.25
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The charge is conspiracy to{THE COU-RT'j:

possess with intent to distribute or distribute a

1n
2

controlled substance and a conspiracy involves two or3

more people so it's you and somebody else.4

Who's the other person?THE DEFENDANT:5

The Plea Agreement says that youTHE COURT:6

conspired with someone else known and unknown.7

So who's the known personTHE DEFENDANT:8

Wouldn't I have to be9 then ?

So who did you get the heroin10 THE COURT:

from?11

That part's unknown, Judge.MR. VICKERS:12

THE COURT: Well, he got it from somewhere.13O
He ' sMR. VICKERS:14

So you tell me what the15 THE COURT:

conspiracy is.16

{MR. . VICKERS?

materials suggest that Mr. Butchee provided heroin to

Your Honor, the discovery17

18

Sadie and Joe Kirkeby areSadie Braunberger, I believe.19

the two individuals that he provided heroin to.20

And then did they redistributeTHE COURT:21

it to someone else?22

,MfC VICKERS1: 

information suggests, yes, Judge.

That's what the discovery23

24

THE COURT: ~ — / So, Mr. Butchee, are those two25vj
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people that you distributed heroin to?1O
No, them ain't the twop'E"TE F E NDAN T1 

people I distributed heroin to.

2

3

-THE “COURT:: Pardon me?4

THE _ DEFENDANT/: No, no.5

So did you distribute heroin to6 THE COURT:

7 anyone ?

/THE 'DEFENDANT:

Them wasn't the two people though.

Yeah, but them wasn't the8

two people.9

<T'HE COURT :

distributed the heroin to, what did they do with it? 

|THE DEFENDANT':

So the people that you10

11

They used it.12

They didn't distribute it toTHE COURT,:13O
someone else?14

THE DEFEND AN T: Nah, Nah.15

So how did you get the heroin?16 THE COURT:

I got it from somebody else,THE DEFENDANT:17

buying it from somebody else for my personal use.18

So that person didn't know that19 THE COURT:

you were going to distribute it to other people?20

I knowYour Honor, can we21 MR. VICKERS:

we're up against the next hearing. Could we take a22

I think I need to speakbreak and maybe continue this?23

with Mr. Butchee if the Court would allow that.24

So I'll let you go down and meet25 THE COURT:O
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I'm going to move on to my nextwith him in the cell.1O
hearing.2

MR. VICKERS: Thank you, Judge.3

We'll be adjourned.THE COURT:4

to 10:40 a.m.)(Recess taken at 10:10 a.m.5

The record should reflect thatTHE COURT:6

we're having a continuation of the sentencing hearing in7

the matter entitled United States of America versus8

James Butchee and both counsel are present along with9
3 the defendant.10
*
ii y
> 4- « Just to clarify, the CourtMR. VICKERS:11

,:n iL <■ 
0 6

said "sentencing."12
o

Oh, I'm sorry, change of plea13-KJ
And, Mr. Butchee, when we took a short breakhearing.14& r J- r we were at the point where I was going over with you 

what the government would have to prove if the case did 

go to trial so I'll tell you the elements again; that 

from on or about January 1, 2016 and December 9,

15

16

17

2016,18

in the District of North Dakota, and elsewhere, two or19

more persons reached an agreement or came to an20

understanding to distribute a mixture or substance21

containing a detectable amount of heroin; that you22

voluntarily and intentionally joined in the agreement or23

understanding either at the time it was first reached or24

at some later time while it was still in effect and that25
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at the time you joined in the agreement or understanding1n
you knew the purpose of the agreement or understanding.2

Do you understand that that's what the3

government would have to prove if this case did go to4

5 trial?

6 THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

And as part of your Plea7 THE COURT:

Agreement it included a factual basis statement on8

Did you read that before you signed it?9 page 2.

10 THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

So it starts on page 2 and c11 THE COURT:

on to page 3. ' Is everything there the truth?12

13 THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

So what was your role in the14 THE COURT:

15 conspiracy?

My role, I had a small role16 THE DEFENDANT:

in the conspiracy.17

So you got heroin from somebody?18 THE COURT:

19 THE DEFENDANT: Yes .

And you distributed it to20 THE COURT:

21 someone else?

22 THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

23 And the person that you got theTHE COURT:

heroin from, did they know that you were going to be24

25 distributing it to other people?
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(THe3e¥e:N^H;T::* No, they didn't know.1

How big of a quantity were youTHE COURT:2

getting from that person?3

THE DEFENDANT': Just a gram for my personal4

5 use .

And then you sold that gram toTHE COURT:6

somebody else?7

THE DE'FENDANT : Yes, ma'am.8

And when you got the gram from9 THE COURT:

the supplier, did you pay him in cash?10

11 THE DEFENDANT: Yes.o

It wasn't fronted to you?12 THE COURT:
o

THE DEFENDANT: No.13

THE COURT:-* So was there an agreement with14* S
yj ^

3 o 4 15 somebody about distributing drugs?

THE DE FEN DANT: Yes .16

What was the agreement?

'THE "DEFENDANT ? I bought it from him and

17 THE COURT:1
^ 18

s° ° 51 19

t ,r|^2o
then sold it to somebody else.

£tHE COURTJ7 But if he didn't know that you

I don't see whatwere going to sell it to someone else,21
3 3 -f’s§50^* the agreement is. What's the agreement?22

The agreement' that I wasT.HE DEFENDANT :

buying it from him and then to sell it to somebody else.

^ Cp 25 

^1 O

So did he know you were going toTHE COURT:
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information, I find that there is an independent factual1O
basis for the plea.2

Now we're going to move to the in-camera3

part of the hearing.4

(Courtroom cleared of all observers.) 

(tKE~CO'URT :

Plea Agreement Supplement that was filed and it

5

Mr. Butchee, there was also a6

7

indicates that there haven't been any promises made to8

you that the government will make a motion to reduce9"2̂
 £ your sentence at a later time because they haven't asked 

you to cooperate against other defendants or you haven't

SL. 10

11

Pi been cooperating against other defendants. Do you12

understand that after you're sentenced the government's13O
not going to make a motion to reduce your sentence14

15 later?

^HE^DEFErD'ANT?^ Yes, ma'am.16

And now we'll move out of the17 THE COURT:

in-camera part of the hearing.18

(Observers allowed to return to the19

20 courtroom.

Mr. Butchee, would you please21 THE COURT:

How do you plead to the charge in the22 stand.

Information that charges you with conspiracy to possess23

with the intent to distribute or distribute a controlled24

substance, heroin? Guilty or not guilty?25
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sell it to someone else?1

Yeah, yeah.THE DEFENDANT:2

THE COURT: He did?3

THE DEFENDANT: Yeah.4

And did you pay him with yourTHE COURT:5

own money or with the money that the other people gave6

The people that you sold the drugs to, did you7 to you?

their money to repay him or did you use your own8 use

9 money?

THE _DEFENDANT :

THE COURT: So you bought one-gram

I did both.10
■ 3

11

quantities from him on a couple of times? 

^H^'PEJEE N DAN T/: Yes .

So what you're telling me isCT:H*B~CO;UiRT-:

that some of the times that you bought the gram

quantities he knew you were going to be reselling it to

somebody else?

ra:E~D'ET. E;N:DAN-T>: Yes.

And the Plea Agreement says thatT-HE—COURT :

What was that?you used telecommunication facilities.

I used my cell phone.T:HE—DE PENDANT-:

To make arrangements with theff-H-ErrCOURT :

supplier to buy more heroin?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes .

THE COURT: With that additional
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I plead guilty.THE DEFENDANT:1

It is theYou may be seated.THE COURT:2

finding of the Court in the case of United States versus3

James Butchee that the defendant is fully competent and4

capable of entering an informed plea; that he is aware 

of the nature of the charges and the consequences of the

5

6

plea and that the plea of guilty is a knowing and 

voluntary plea supported by an independent basis in fact 

containing each of the essential elements of the

The Court's going to reserve accepting the 

plea until after the Presentence Investigation Report 

has been finished and will reserve adjudicating the

7

8

9

offense.10

11

12

The reservation is made becausedefendant as guilty.13O
it's an 11(c)(1)(C) plea.14

Mr. Butchee, I wanted to tell you what will15

Probation's going to prepare the16 happen next.

Presentence Investigation Report that we talked about17

before and when that happens the probation officer will18

meet with you and you can have your attorney present19

during that meeting.20

He's going to ask you questions about your21

background, about your family, your education, your work22

experience, if you've been in trouble with the law23

And he'll put allbefore and about what happened here.24

of that into the report and then file it and your25U
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attorney will get access to the report and then he'll go1n
And you should read it carefully andover it with you.2

let him know if there are any changes or things that are3

He can ask to have changesnot correct in the report.4

made or he can file formal objections to the reports and5

And during thethen there will be a sentencing hearing.6

sentencing hearing the judge will rule on any objections7

that are made first and then that will determine what8

And the judge will decideyour guideline range is.9

based on that whether to accept or not accept your plea10

and whether to accept the binding Plea Agreement.11

Your sentencing hearing is going to be on12

at 1:30 and that will be beforeThursday, November 15th,13O
During that hearing your attorney willJudge Hovland.14

be able to make a recommendation on the sentence.15

You'll be given an opportunity to speak so if there's16

anything you want the judge to know about you you'll17

And if you've got family orhave the chance to do that.18

friends who would like to come and speak, the judge will19

listen to what they have to say and then listen to the20

government's recommendation.21

Anything further from either side?22

Mr. Butchee, did you want to ask something?23

He can go first.24 THE DEFENDANT:

Mr. Rodenbiker, anything25 THE COURT:
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further?1O Thank you.No, Your Honor.MR. RODENBIKER:2

Your Honor, Mr. Butchee is aMR. VICKERS:3

little concerned about the timing of the sentencing4

hearing but I think that there's requirement time frames5

for PSI reports that they have to get in.6

It takes that amount of time toTHE COURT:7

get the report written and to check on information that8

you provide and then to determine your advisory9

guideline range, and then there has to be a period of10

time for the attorneys to both object to things that are11

in the report and then enough time for the judge to be12

able to read it beforehand.13o
can I have aSo can I getTHE DEFENDANT:14

hold to stay in Cass County then till that time?15

The marshals service will decideTHE COURT:16

where you're located.17

Anything else from either side?18

MR. VICKERS: No, Your Honor.19

THE COURT: Okay. We'll be adjourned.20

(Adjourned at 10:55 a.m.)21

22

23

24

25o
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(The above-entitled matter came before the Court, The 

Honorable Daniel L. Hovland, United States District Court 

Judge, presiding, commencing at 1:30 p.m., Thursday,

November 15, 2018, in the United States Courthouse, Fargo,

North Dakota. The following proceedings were had and made of 

record in open court with the defendant present:)

l

2

3

4

5

6

7

We'll open the record in the case ofTHE COURT:8

United States of America versus James — is it Butchee? Is9

that how you pronounce it?1001:30

THE DEFENDANT: Butchee. Sir.11 J

THE COURT: Butchee?12

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Sir.13

THE COURT: All right. Here on behalf of the federal 

government is Assistant U.S. Attorney Brett Shasky.

Representing the defendant at this hearing is Attorney Stormy 

Vickers from Fargo. Mr. Butchee, how are you today?

THE DEFENDANT: I'm doing fine. How you doing, sir?

THE COURT: I'm good. This is scheduled as a 

sentencing hearing on a charge of conspiracy to possess with 

intent to distribute and distribute a controlled substance.

14

1501:30

16

17

18

19

2001:31

21

Before today I have gone back and reviewed the 

Presentence Investigation Report, the Sentencing Memorandum 

submitted by Mr. Vickers on behalf of Mr. Butchee. I've 

reviewed the attachments to the Sentencing Memorandum. I've

22

23

24

2501:31

3



also gone back and looked at the Plea Agreement and the Plea 

Agreement Supplement.

It's my understanding coming in here today that Judge 

Karen Schreier had deferred acceptance of the terms of the 

binding Plea Agreement until after the Presentence Report had

As the sentencing judge, I've 

reviewed that report, and I will accept the terms and 

conditions of the binding Plea Agreement of the parties under 

the circumstances.

l

2

3

4

501:31

been prepared and reviewed.6

7

8

9

Mr. Butchee, were you given the opportunity to review 

the Presentence Investigation Report?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. Yes, I — my lawyer had gave it

1001:32

11

12

to me, yes, sir.13

THE COURT: Okay. And you've talked to your lawyer 

about what that report means for you?

THE DEFENDANT: We talked briefly, yeah.

14

1501:32

16

THE COURT: All right.17

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Sir.18

THE COURT: Either counsel have any objections that 

they wish to voice to the facts or the guideline calculations 

outlined in the Presentence investigation Report? Mr. shasky?

MR. SHASKY: None from the United States, Your Honor.

19

2001:32

21

22

THE COURT: Mr. Vickers?23

Your Honor, I don't object to the 

I don't object to the career offender calculation.

MR. VICKERS:24

facts.2501:32

4



There is an objection to some of the points that were allocated 

outside of that, but I -- I don't know that it academically 

makes any difference because he is a career offender 

agree with the result of the -- of the PSI calculation.

So Mr. Vickers has made -- outlined some

l

2

3 so weI

4

THE COURT:501:33

objections that are contained in pages 28 and 29 of the 

Presentence Report. It's the finding of this Court that the 

Presentence Report, particularly the criminal history category, 

was properly calculated. As — as an unrefuted career 

offender, these -- Mr. Butchee is certainly looking at a 

criminal history category of VI, and regardless if there are 

one or two or three convictions that may alter the number of 

criminal history points that he has, it doesn't change the 

criminal history category, so objections are noted for the 

record. They're overruled.

The appropriate guideline range in this case is 151 

to 188 months based on an overall offense level of 29, a 

Criminal History Category VI.

Are there any witnesses that intend to testify?

6

7

8

9

1001:33

11

12

13

14

1501:33

16

17

18

19

MR. SHASKY: No, Your Honor.2001:34

MR. VICKERS: No, Your Honor.

THE COURT: So, Mr. Butchee, then I'll give both 

attorneys an opportunity to outline their sentencing 

recommendations. There's not going to be any surprises here in 

terms of the length of the sentence because I've accepted the

21

22

23

24

2501:34

5



binding Plea Agreement, but I'll give everybody a chance to 

weigh in and tell me what they believe is an appropriate

l

2

sentence and how it should run relative to the sentence that3

Mr. Butchee is serving in Minnesota. Start with Mr. Shasky's4

recommendation.501:34

MR. SHASKY: Your Honor, obviously we have the 

recommendation as the Court has already identified, that we are 

jointly recommending the 136 months. For the defendant, 

really, I think the only issue that is outstanding is how his 

current Minnesota state sentence that he's serving plays into 

the overall sentence. I know they're asking for concurrent 

time. I am asking that this 136 months of imprisonment be run 

consecutive to his Minnesota sentence, entirely consecutive.

The reason for that, Your Honor, is simply that the 

Minnesota matter was totally unrelated to this. It's 

something — and Mr. Vickers can correct me if I'm wrong on 

this, but my recollection — it's been a while, but my 

recollection is that the conduct that he was involved with in

6

7

8

9

1001:35

11

12

13

14

1501:35

16

17

18

Minnesota was very similar in nature to what we have here, 

involved an overdose death, I believe, or -- over there, which 

in Minnesota they did not have a specific charge for that, so 

it became the second degree manslaughter charge.

And initially he may have been cooperating or 

assisting the authorities on that, and then ultimately worked

It took them a bit of time to get to

It19

2001:35

21

22

23

24

out this deal with them.2501:36

6



And in the meantime, while thatthe point of doing that, 

matter was still pending, he had come up here from the Cities

l

2

and began doing the same thing, selling heroin, 

a result of that, there's really no justification for running

And I think as3

4

these concurrent.501:36

I think that, you know, he knew that he had committed 

the crime and what he was doing was wrong in Minnesota, 

short break while he was supposedly working with those guys, 

and then came up here and resumed the same activity, 

that a consecutive sentence is appropriate under those

And just to, you know, not beat a dead horse 

here, I would simply ask that the Court impose the 136 months 

consecutive to his Minnesota sentence.

6

Took a7

8

I think9

1001: 36

circumstances.li

12

13

And supervised release for how long?

I think, Your Honor — I guess I never

THE COURT:14

MR. SHASKY:1501:37

got around to —16

The range is three years to life underTHE COURT:17

the guidelines.18

I think, you know, three years would be 

sufficient, Your Honor, on that, but I will leave that to the

I think our usual conditions that we place

MR. SHASKY:19

2001: 37

Court's discretion.21

on drug defendants would be appropriate.

There is, I know, an issue regarding restitution 

here. The defendant did not ultimately plead to the offense 

that involved the overdose death, but I think the relevant

22

23

24

2501:37

7



conduct involved here did involve that.l

And so the Court is aware, because I know you weren't 

part of the plea hearing and so on, we essentially worked out 

this deal because while this matter was pending trial, our 

witnesses were dropping like flies. They were all heroin 

addicts, and we had — literally had three people in this case 

that were main witnesses, all of whom died from overdoses while 

it was pending, and one of them being more recent, I guess, 

that ultimately caused us to tip the scales and do this. And 

none of them are the ones that we're seeking the restitution on 

because we can't prove that any of them necessarily died from 

drugs that he supplied.

But there was an individual who — a related

2

3

4

501:38

6

7

8

9

1001:38

11

12

13

defendant, Joseph Kirkeby, has been ordered to pay restitution 

on — that individual died from heroin Kirkeby gave him, which 

the evidence in this case, had we had all of our witnesses, 

would have showed that it went from Mr. Butchee to Mr. Kirkeby 

and then ultimately to the decedent in this case, so that's the 

basis for my requesting the restitution be ordered joint and 

several with Mr. Kirkeby.

THE COURT: And how much? How much?

14

1501:38

16

17

18

19

2001:39

21

Pardon, Your Honor?MR. SHASKY:22

THE COURT: The amount of restitution —23

We're checking on that right now, Your 

I don't seem to have that document in my file.

MR. SHASKY:24

Honor.2501:39

8



It's in the PSI at 12,986, if that'sMR. VICKERS:l

accurate.2

MR. SHASKY: okay.3

MR. VICKERS: At paragraph 9.

MR. SHASKY: Right. Yep, 12,986 is the number that 

was ordered in Mr. Kirkeby's case.

4

501:39

6

THE COURT: All right. Mr. Vickers.7

Your Honor, we are requesting that Mr.MR. VICKERS:8

Butchee receive either a concurrent sentence or at least a9

partially concurrent sentence. He's currently been in custody 

on this — on this charge for 17 months. He's been in custody

1001:40

11

since June of 2017.12

As Mr. Shasky stated, there were some witness issues, 

and I think the government had some serious proof problems, 

the end of the day, however, Mr. Butchee wanted to take 

responsibility for this, and we came to an agreement where I 

think the risk on both sides was alleviated by getting here.

We believe that a concurrent sentence would be

13

At14

1501:40

16

17

18

appropriate. Obviously the Court, having read the Sentencing 

Memorandum that I submitted, is aware that the 3553 factors are 

required to be considered. I won't go through those again, as 

I already did. But we do believe that either partially 

concurrent or fully concurrent would — would be appropriate or 

at least not inappropriate in this case.

I agree that a three-year supervised term seems

19

2001:40

21

22

23

24

2501:41
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I think that that's what wouldappropriate in this as well, 

typically be done with this — with this charge here.

l

2

Your Honor, as to the restitution, the government's 

case had a chain of custody six-people deep. It went from a 

girl named Sadie, who called -- who she alleged to be Mr. 

Butchee. She sent her boyfriend, Doe Kirkeby, to pick it up 

from Mr. Butchee, but he ended up picking it up from two people 

that weren't Mr. Butchee. He transfers it to another person. 

That person had other suppliers of drugs as well, but says that 

these drugs probably came from Mr. Butchee. I think he 

actually gave two or three different statements about that. I 

know there was at least two statements.

3

4

501:41

6

7

8

9

1001:41

11

12

And so even -- even without that, there still were13

some defenses available for Mr. Butchee related to whether he14

was actually, in fact, the death — but for death resulting in1501:42

We maintain that Mr. Butchee shouldn't bethis case.16

responsible for the restitution based in part on that and in 

part on the charge that he entered a guilty plea to.

We are asking the Court to make a recommendation for 

We are asking the Court to make a recommendation for 

Mr. Butchee is, although I don't — I don't know 

that that is appropriate, but he's asking for that, so I think 

that it won't hurt anything.

We are asking for an RDAP recommendation.

Mr. Butchee, I think his history is replete with drug use, so I

17

18

19

Oxford.2001:42

Sandstone.21

22

23

24

2501:42
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think that would be an appropriate recommendation as well.

That's all, Your Honor. Thank you.

THE COURT: All right. So do either of you counsel 

know in Minnesota, how they deal with offenders that are 

subsequently sentenced in federal court?

I served on the parole board in North Dakota, so I 

know how it works in North Dakota. Generally the parole board 

is going to parole someone like Mr. Butchee to their federal 

sentence as soon as that sentence is handed down to get them 

off the state coffers and get them out of their hair, put them 

in the federal system, but I don't know what they -- how they 

approach these cases in Minnesota. Do either of you?

MR. VICKERS: Not with any certainty, Judge, no.

THE COURT: All right. So, Mr. Butchee, I'm required 

to also give you an opportunity to speak, and maybe you know 

how they handle it in Minnesota. You've maybe had a case 

manager assigned to you that's talked to you about parole 

hearings and being paroled to your federal sentence. If you 

know anything about that, I'd appreciate finding out what you 

may know. But I have to give you the same opportunity to 

speak, so if there's anything you wish to say, sir, you're 

welcome to speak at this time.

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir. My name is James Mari one 

Butchee. I'm currently — I'm an addict — recovering addict.

I gave myself to Jesus Christ. My core beliefs in life is my

l

2

3

4

501:43

6

7

8

9

1001:43

11

12

13

14

1501: 43

16

17

18

19

2001: 44

21

22

23

24

2501: 44
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country, God, myself, and my family. I believe I put myself 

first because ifsl can't take care of myself, then how can I 

take care of my family? I have two little girls, a 

one-year-old and a five-year old. My mother is — I never had 

a daddy. My mother is not here. She's not present.

So basically what I'm saying, sir, like I made some 

mistakes in my life, and I'm not proud of it. And I'm not 

trying to minimize acceptance of responsibility. Your Honor, 

my take on accepting responsibility is that I came up here 

doing drugs. I sold some drugs. I came up here by myself, and 

I'm not going to — I'm not going to lie and say I didn't.

But I didn't take place on allegations that I got 

indicted for. I never took place. I never knew a guy named 

Joseph Kirkeby. I never seen him a day in my life. He was -- 

there was statements that he never seen me. He never — he

l

2

3

4

501:44

6

7

8

9

1001:45

11

12

13

14

1501:45

He couldn't even — he couldn'tdidn't even know who I was.16

even point me out of a photo lineup, Your Honor, 

apologize to behalf of you and this Court for — for even 

dealing with — for even dealing with me, you know, on your 

discretion.

And I want to17

18

19

2001:46

And as far as — I'm going to go back to what you was 

My case worker did talk to me before I

21

just talking about, 

came up here, and I signed expeditions (sic) because I wanted

22

23

to take care of this matter because —24

You signed a what?THE COURT:2501:46

12



THE DEFENDANT: The --1

MR. VICKERS: Extradition.2

THE DEFENDANT: The extradition.3

THE court: Extradition. Okay.4

I signed the extradition to come upTHE DEFENDANT:501:46 \

here right away, take care of this matter, so I wasn't 

wasn't running from and I wasn't hiding from it. 

think I'm guilty of not being caught with nothing, 

caught — never got caught with drugs, never -- they had a 

picture of me coming from a — from a gas station, and that's

That was -- that was the investigation,

I6

You know, I7

I never got8

9

1001:46

what they went off of.li

so when I came —12

THE COURT: Well, I'm sure they weren't going to go

to trial based on a picture found in a gas station, but —

THE DEFENDANT: You know, so that's — when I came up 

here, when I was asking my case worker, she told me like when I 

-- when I come up here — when I have to go — when I come back 

to Minnesota, I'll have to finish up my little time in

Minnesota, then go to finish up if I — if I got to do some

more time. Then I have to get extradited — you know what I'm 

saying? — back to the Feds and then finish up their time, so 

that's why I was — that's why I was asking my lawyer,.Stormy 

-- Stormy Daniels (sic) to see if my time could get ran 

concurrent because I'm still doing the time.

THE COURT: Did you call him Stormy Daniels?

13

14

1501:47

16
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2001:47
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24

2501:47
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THE DEFENDANT: stormy Vickers. I'm sorry. Il

apologize.2

She makes more money than me, I think. 

We've read more about Stormy Daniels than

MR. VICKERS:3

THE COURT:4

Stormy Vickers lately, but —501:47

THE DEFENDANT: No. Sorry.6

THE COURT: That's all right.7

I just messed — so that's why I was 

asking — you know what I'm saying? — my counselor that — to 

ask you, because I'm still going to do the time.

THE DEFENDANT:8

9

It ain't like1001:48

I'm going to get out, or nothing, or — you know what I'm

I'm still doing the time regardless — you know what

li

saying?

I'm saying? — the 19 months I got left in the state, so I'm -

12

13

I was still doing the time regardless if -- you know what I'm 

The fact if it got ran consecutive, got ran 

concurrent, if it got deducted off my time, I was still going 

— I was still going to be incarcerated.

14

saying?1501:48

16

17

Right, but I know parole boards in all 

states more often than not parole people early, before their 

sentence is completed, and parole them to their federal

I mean, I just don't know 

how they handle it in Minnesota, but I'd be doubtful that they 

force everybody to serve out their entire sentence when they're 

looking at other sentences in other jurisdictions, but --

Yeah, they don't — in Minnesota,

the court:18

19

2001:48

sentence if that's the situation.21

22

23

24

THE DEFENDANT:2501:49
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There's not a parole

You just

they don't have a parole board there.

You don't go to no parole board, or nothing.

You just — they have it like where you finish out

l

board.2

finish.3

your time.4

Do you get credit for good behavior? 

Yeah, get credit for good behavior.

THE COURT:501:49

THE DEFENDANT:6

THE COURT: How much is that?7

THE DEFENDANT: TWO-thirds.8

You get a third off, Judge, and that's 

— the exhibit that I submitted has his anticipated release 

That — that considers his good-time reduction.

MR. VICKERS:9

1001:49

date.li

THE court: Oh, okay.12

And so that's what they have in 

You know, they don't -- they don't have no parole 

It's just you do two-thirds, so if I'm doing 30 — if 

I'm doing 60 months, I'm doing 40 months, you know, 

ain't had no disputes while I been down here, 

been down here, I ain't had no disputes, no fighting, not even 

a write-up.

THE DEFENDANT:13

Minnesota.14

board.1501:49

And I16

The 17 months I17

18

19

THE COURT: All right. Good.2001:49

THE DEFENDANT: Not even one, you know. So, you21

know, I just — you know, I just want to just really just —

I'm really kind of disappointed in myself because I let my — I

And, you know, I know how it feels to grow 

up without a father, to be — have a father presence in the

22

23

let my kids down.24

2501:50

15



household, because I grew up without a father.

So who's raising the kids?

l

THE COURT:2

THE DEFENDANT: Her mother. My baby mama.3

Where do they live?

They live in — they live — right 

now they live in Wisconsin — Racine,1 Wisconsin, and, you know,

THE COURT:4

THE DEFENDANT:501:50

6

it's kind of hard on them because she don't — she's like7

living with somebody else and, you know, it's like it's real 

It's real hard, so she —

8

hard.9

It's always hard on the family that'sTHE COURT:1001:50

left behind.ll

THE DEFENDANT: Yeah. Yeah, so12

So why did you come up to North Dakota inTHE COURT:13

the midst of a criminal case in Minnesota here?14

I'm going to be -- I'm going to be 

I'm going to be honest with you, Judge 

Hovland, and I'm not going to sugar-coat or nothing, 

got out, a young lady had — had bailed me out. 

security — like her whole security -- whole social security

She had chrome (sic) disease, and she 

couldn't pay for her — for her prescription, and it was like 

$1,500, to be honest with you, and you —

THE DEFENDANT:1501:50

honest with you.16

When I17

I took her18

19

and helped me bail out.2001:51

21

22

THE COURT: HUMIRA?23

THE DEFENDANT: Huh?24

What was she taking, Humira?THE COURT:2501:51

16



THE DEFENDANT: Camara (ph), yeah.l

Yeah, I'm familiar with Crohn's disease.THE COURT:2

THE DEFENDANT: Yeah. So you know what I'm saying? 

She didn't — she didn't have no — she didn't have no money, 

and they had — and she had to come out of her pocket $1,500, 

so to be honest with you, sir, that's the reason why I came up 

here, to repay her for bailing me out, and I never came back.

I never came back. I did it once and never came back, and

3

4

501: 51

6

7

8

that's the honest to God truth. And I wasn't -- wasn't with9

nobody. It was just me. Just me. Just me, Your Honor, and 

that's the real reason why --

1001:51

11

So how much dope did you bring with youTHE COURT:12

then?13

THE DEFENDANT: To be honest with you, it was about 

15 grams. About 15 grams, and that was it, and the —

THE COURT: What did you pay for that?

THE DEFENDANT: And the reason how I got -- and the 

reason how — the reason how I got it, the drugs, it was a 

female. She was -- she had — she was going through something 

with her — with her boyfriend, and she had found it in her 

house, and I knew her, and she didn't know what it was. She

14

1501: 52

16

17

18

19

2001:52

21

called me over there and asked me what it was, and I told her22

what it was. And she said, "Just — just get it out of my 

And that's how I came up — that's how I stumbled up

23

house."24

on it.2501:52

17



So did somebody front that quantity ofTHE COURT:l

drugs to you, or2

THE DEFENDANT: No, it wasn't -- it wasn't a front.3

It was — it was a young lady that found it in her house and4

didn't know what it was.501:52

THE COURT: Oh.6

And she — and she told me to just — 

I don't -- I don't want that in my house.

So what were you going to sell it for?

THE DEFENDANT:7

just take it.8

THE COURT:9

THE DEFENDANT: Excuse me, sir?1001:52

Or what did you sell it for?THE COURT:11

THE DEFENDANT: I sold it for $100.12

THE COURT: All right. So you weren't even going to 

make any profit on the sale yourself?

13

14

THE DEFENDANT: No, it wasn't -- it wasn't -- it1501:53

wasn't about this, sir. I was just coming up here — you know 

what I'm saying? — to make some fast money to help a friend 

that helping me.

16

17

18

THE COURT: All right. So what do you plan to do 

with your life when you take care of all of these sentences?

19

2001:53

When I take care of these — allTHE DEFENDANT:21

these sentences, sir, to be honest with you, I plan to get a22

job. I got a lot of credentials — you know what I'm saying? 

— within myself.

23

You know what I'm saying?

I plan first to get a job and start from the bottom.

24

2501:53
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And my plan is — to be honest with you, sir, it's to start 

like a transitional housing for — you know what I'm saying? — 

for people like myself getting out of prisons — you know what 

I'm saying? — like the youth, helping the youth. You know 

what I'm saying? And, you know, making a proposal, going to a 

bank and see if the state will back me because I been through 

it. You know what I'm saying?

And it's like I'm sick and tired of it, so I'm ready 

to change. I'm ready to make a drastic change in my life, so 

when — when you ready to change and you know you ready to 

change, I think you have a lot of success in life.

THE COURT: All right.

l

2

3

4

501:53

6

7

8

9

1001:54

11

12

And the one thing I wanted to add 

too, though, Your Honor, like I did a little research on my

THE DEFENDANT:13

14

15 own.01:54

That's always an invitation for troubleTHE COURT:16 J

but go ahead.17

THE DEFENDANT: okay. I say, Your Honor, with all 

due respect, I would like to present a claim of error on the 

record. The career offender enhancement application to the 

calculation of my offense level is persidearly (ph) unsound and 

substantially unreasonable under the law on several grounds.

The drug quantity is most also — be treated as an 

element of the offense; as such, must be charged and 

established in charging information, see United States versus

18

19

2001:54

21

22

23

24

2501:55
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Sheppard, 219 F.3D, 766, 767, Eighth Circuit, the year 2000.

But the drug quantities don't have 

anything to do with whether somebody is a career offender or

l

THE COURT:2

3

not.4

THE DEFENDANT: Yeah. Yeah. Yeah, I know. I'm501:55

going to get to that, sir.6

THE COURT: Okay.7

THE DEFENDANT: For these reasons, in United States8 i

Court of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit has held that drug 

quantity must always in — in conclude in the PSR report, see 

Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, of Rule 32 — of Rule 

32(b)(4)(B) and (b)(6)(A), also United States versus Moss, 252, 

FD — F.3d 993, Eighth Circuit, 2000.

Given the quantity is an element under the 18 USC 

841, the information that charged — that violates — violation 

of 841 and the Plea Agreement, they rely on this information. 

Both have failed to specify the quantity of the drug that I'm 

responsible for.

9

1001:55

11

12

13

14

1501:56

16

17

18

In the schedule that such quantity falls under, the 

need for these two documents to establish quantity and the 

subject is based on the argument that the quantity determines 

the schedule, and the schedule determines the statutory minimum 

and maximum. As such, for sentencing purposes, both categories 

must be carefully calculated and established before the 

application of the career offender enhancement in this case.

19

2001:56
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To this extent, the lack of specified quantity of

2 drugs in the — in the Plea Agreement, that amounts to an

3 omission of applicable schedule in this case, enhances the

4 failure of the PSI report and charge in the information to

5 establish these two categories, deprives me of the correct

6 calculation of the base offense level. Without determining the

7 correct base offense level, the application of the career

8 offender enhancement becomes unmeasurable, persidearly (sic)

9 and unreasonable in this case. Thank you for your judicial 

10 notice of this matter.

l

01:57

01: 57

So what are you saying, that you're not aTHE COURT:11

12 career offender, or what?

THE DEFENDANT: I believe that the calculations of13

the career offender was miscalculated.14

THE COURT: Well, first of all, drug quantities have

16 nothing to do with determining whether an individual is a

17 career offender or not. But with respect to the drug

18 quantities in this case and the base offense level for those

19 quantities, in paragraph 13 of the Plea Agreement, which you

20 signed off on and agreed to, you agreed that the base offense

21 level for your conduct was a 32 based upon 60 to 80 grams of

22 heroin. You agreed to that in the Plea Agreement. You signed

23 a contract and agreed to that.

The career offender status was also addressed in that

1501:57

01:58

24

same paragraph, which you agreed that you were a career2501:58

21



But to become a career offender, and that's under 

Section 4B1.1 of the guidelines, you have to be at least 18 at 

the time of the offense, which you were; the instant offense, 

this crime, is a felony; and if you have at least two prior

offender.l

2

3

4

felony convictions for a crime of violence or a controlled 

substance offense, that's what gets you into the career

It's not the quantity of the drugs, 

It's your prior criminal history and

501:59

6

offender designation, 

nothing to do with it. 

the crime that you're charged with in this particular case.

You've got two prior crimes of violence or a felony

7

8

9

1001:59

drug offense both out of Minnesota in 2005 and 2010. 

all listed in the Presentence Report that was not objected to. 

And then when you get charged with this felony drug offense in 

federal court, which you pled guilty to, it didn't matter what 

the quantities are, you get three strikes, 

offender.

Those areli

12

13

14

You're a career1501:59

16

You've got two prior felony drug offenses, 

got one crime of violence conviction, so that's what triggers

It's not anything to do 

so I'm not sure

You've17

18

this career offender designation, 

about quantities or case law on quantities

19

2002:00 9

what you were getting at.21

No, I was saying like my — like dueTHE DEFENDANT:22

to my offense level like —23

Which you agreed to in the PleaTHE COURT:24

Agreement.2502:00

22



THE DEFENDANT: But how did it get to 20, though? I 

don't understand that, though. And then how did it get from 20 

to 32, because in —

l

2

3

Because of your career offender status, 

that's what bumps you up on the offense level chart.

THE COURT:4

502 : 00

THE DEFENDANT: okay. So when -- in the manual6 i n

the guidelines manual, isn't it a three — three-level7

enhancement?8

the COURT: No. For what?9

For the -- for the career — for theTHE DEFENDANT:1002:01

career offender.li

THE COURT: No, I don't --12

, MR. SHASKY: Your Honor, one thing that I'm kind of13

wondering if maybe he's getting at here, and I could be wrong 

on this too, what he pled to was the offense that had the

So even as a career offender, I

14

1502:01

maximum penalty of 20 years, 

think that he doesn't start out as high as we ordinarily would. 

But I think he's not understanding that under the

16

17

18

guideline section for the career offender, he starts at a 32, 

correct, with a maximum — an offense that he pled to that has 

a maximum penalty of 20 years, under the career offender 

guideline starts him at 32.

19

2002:01

21

22

THE COURT: Correct?23

Yes, that's accurate, YourTHE PROBATION OFFICER:24

Honor.2502:01

23



So even if your offense level was a 14 or 

a 18 or a 20, when you're a career offender, then under the 

guidelines we turn to a table under Section 4B1.1, and that

THE COURT:1

2

3

tells us what your offense level increases to as a result of

In this case it goes from 20 to 32

4

being a career offender, 

just like that.

502 : 02

6

You don't want to be a career offender because it7

always results in the longest of sentences in the federal 

criminal justice system, but it usually bumps you up -- I don't 

have a guideline in front of me, but it usually -- it's going 

to bump you up, depending on the statutory maximum for the 

underlying crime, anywhere from a 32 on up to a 36 or —

MR. SHASKY: Thirty-seven.

THE COURT: Thirty-seven is the highest that it could 

be if the statutory maximum was higher for the crime that you 

pled guilty to. But you're always going to be up in that 30 

range somewhere as a career offender. It depends upon the 

statutory maximum for the crime that you pled guilty to.

THE DEFENDANT: Okay. And I was just — Your Honor 

I was just confused because when I read the case United States 

versus Lynch, he was a career offender, and he started at 23. 

And when they applied the career offender, he jumped to a 29.

I have the case too, to reference it too, so that's why I

8

9

1002:02

11

12

13

14

1502:02

16

17

18

19 J

2002:03

21

22

23

24 was

THE COURT: Go ahead.2502:03
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THE PROBATION OFFICER: if I may, Your Honor, in 

4Bl.l(b)(3), if the offense statutory maximum is 20 years or 

more but less than 25, which I believe is this case, the 

offense level is 32. If the offense level would have been 29, 

it would require that the offense statutory maximum be 15 years 

or more, but less than 20 years.

THE COURT: So do you understand? If the crime that 

you had pled guilty to carried a maximum penalty of 15 to 

20 years — or under 20 years, then it bumps up to an overall 

adjusted offense level 29 as a career offender.

If the statutory maximum for the crime that you pled 

guilty to is 20 years or more — up to 25 years I guess it 

would be, then it bumps up to an offense level of 32. It all 

is based on the crime that you plead guilty to and what the 

statutory maximum is for that crime.

That case that you cited, clearly that defendant was 

looking at a statutory maximum sentence of something less than 

20 years. That's why he ended up with a career offender 

offense level of 29. if that crime, for example, would have 

carried a life sentence, then he would have been up to an 

offense level of 37 rather than 32 or 29. It just depends on 

the crime that you plead guilty to and what the maximum penalty 

is for that crime. That's what determines your offense level 

as a career offender.

l

2

3

4

502 : 03

6

7

8

9

1002:03

11

12

13

14

1502:04

16

17

18

19

2002:04
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It's not -- I agree, it's not always so easy to2502:04
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understand, but that's what is the big difference. And in your 

case the statutory maximum was 20 years of imprisonment. That

l

2

correlates with a base offense level of 32 under the career3

offender sentencing guideline.

THE DEFENDANT: Okay. So would've been my minimum

4

502:05

6 then?

Minimum is anywhere from zero toTHE COURT:7

20 years.8

THE DEFENDANT: oh, okay. okay.9

If the crime that you pled guilty to only 

carried a statutory maximum of 15 years, then your base offense 

level would've been 29 rather than 32.

THE COURT:1002:05

11

12

THE DEFENDANT: Right.13

THE COURT: But at the end of the day in this case, 

the parties entered into a binding Plea Agreement that provided 

for a sentence that was less than the sentencing guideline 

range, in this case the sentencing guidelines for you turned 

out to be 151 to 188 months.

14

1502:05

16

17

18

Most of the time defendants tend to receive a19

sentence that falls within the sentencing guidelines, but 

because of the issues in this case from both sides, they 

reached a binding Plea Agreement that was, you know, 15 months 

less than the low end of the sentencing guidelines.

But I appreciate your bringing those points up 

because, I mean, you raise some valid points.

2002:06

21
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24

There's a lot2502 : 06
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of — everybody has a lot of questions about what it means to 

become a career offender, and why does one career offender get 

a base offense level of 29, and why does one get 32, and why

But it — so it's not -- it's not always so

l

2

3

does one get 37? 

clear, but it all depends on the crime that you have pled 

guilty to and what the maximum penalty is for that particular 

Do you have a little better understanding?

4

502:06

6

7 crime.

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.8

Was there anything more that you wantedTHE COURT:9

to say?1002 : 07

THE DEFENDANT: I just — I'm just sick and tired of 

just — you know, just being locked up, though, sir, you know.

THE COURT: Right. I understand. I understand that.

THE DEFENDANT: To be honest with you, though, you 

know, like just — you know, like to be honest, I'm dealing 

with a lot of little mental — mental -- you know what I'm 

saying? — issues on my -- in myself.

THE COURT: Right.

li

12

13

14

1502:07

16

17

18

Within myself, though, you know, like 

it just hurts my soul, though, you know, to — that I got to go 

through this, and — but I look at it like only the strongest

Just keep my 

I'm

THE DEFENDANT:19

2002:07

21

You know, the weak fall to the wayside, 

faith in God and, you know, I'll -- I'm going to prevail, 

going — I'm going to do the right thing, though.

I have to for my kids, for my two daughters.

22 survive.

23

I know I am.24

It ain't no ifs,2502:08
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i

ands, buts about it.l

THE COURT: All right. Anything else that either 

counsel wished to say?

2

3

MR. SHASKY: No, Your Honor.4

MR. VICKERS: No, Your Honor.

THE COURT: And I'll direct my question to both 

counsel. Is there anything that I have said to Mr. Butchee in 

an effort to explain this career offender status that either of 

you feel was incorrect?

502 : 08

6

7

8

9

MR. SHASKY: No, Your Honor.1002:08

MR. VICKERS: No, Your Honor.li

THE COURT: Okay. And in terms of the request for12

restitution, is there anything more that the government is 

offering other than paragraph 9 in the Presentence Report?

I'm not sure I understand what the --

13

14

MR. SHASKY:1502:08

THE COURT: Well, I mean, the government has the 

burden of proof in establishing the amount of restitution and 

the causal connection to this offense. Is there anything more 

that you intend to submit other than paragraph 9 of the 

Presentence Report and your arguments about how there's some 

causal connection here?

16

17

18

19

2002 : 09

21

MR. SHASKY: Your Honor, I didn't provide copies, I 

guess, of the receipts that we had. They were provided in the 

related case with Mr. Kirkeby, but those do exist. I guess I 

shouldn't -- I should have probably brought those.

22

23

24

2502:09
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I don't think that the dollar amount involved isl

The question is whether or not he should 

I didn't know that he was going to be 

fighting this issue until he filed that Sentencing Memorandum, 

and I did not have an opportunity to really review that in 

detail until today

really the question, 

be responsible for it.

2

3

4

502:09

so it was too late, but —6 J

THE COURT: All right.7

MR. SHASKY: — I don't have anything further, no.

THE COURT: Okay. Well, I've reviewed the 

Presentence investigation Report. I accept all of the factual 

information contained in that report, none of which has been 

disputed. The appropriate sentencing guideline range in this 

case is based on an overall offense level of 29. a criminal

8

9

1002:10

11

12

13 J

history category of VI, with an advisory guideline range of 15114

to 188 months.1502:10

The parties have entered into a binding Plea 

Agreement for a sentence of 136 months, so both parties have 

stipulated and agreed to a variance from the guidelines in this 

case, which the Court has approved and agreed to.

There's no need to address any other basis for a 

departure or a variance under the circumstances, but I'm well 

aware of the sentencing factors under 18 use Section 3553(a) 

that I'm required to consider in every case, 

all of those factors in this case.

16

17

18

19

2002:10

21

22

I've considered23

24

I'm equally aware of Section 5G1.3 of the guidelines2502:11
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and how it comes into play in determining whether a 

consecutive, concurrent, or partially concurrent sentence 

should be imposed, 

considered under 18 USC Section 3584 in addressing that subject

l

2

And I'm aware of the factors to be3

4

matter.502:11

And the Eighth circuit court of Appeals has said that 

when judges look at the 3553(a) factors, the 3584 statutory 

provisions, and 5G1.3, we are entitled to rely upon factual 

information contained in the Presentence Report that hasn't 

been objected to, information contained in sentencing 

memorandums and exhibits, arguments of counsel, statements made 

by a defendant, and I've relied upon all of that information.

Pursuant to the Sentencing Reform Act of 1984, Mr. 

Butchee, it's the judgment of this Court that you shall be 

committed to the custody of the Bureau of Prisons to be 

imprisoned for a period of 136 months, 

concurrent with the remaining undischarged sentence in 

Minnesota; in other words, concurrent from this day forward in 

accordance with Section 5G1.3.

6

7

8

9

1002:11

11

12

13

14

1502:12

I'll run that16

17

18

19

I'm placing you on supervised release for a period of 

I'm ordering that you pay a special assessment of 

I'm not imposing a fine, and I'm not ordering any 

restitution in this case on the basis that the government 

hasn't sustained its burden of proof to establish the

And Mr. Kirkeby has already been ordered to

2002:12

three years.21

$100.22

23

24

connection here.2502:12
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pay that restitution, as I understand it 

$12,986, but I'm not ordering that you're responsible for that,

restitution ofl I

2

Mr. Butchee.3

The conditions of supervised release that you'll be 

required to comply with will be outlined in the Judgment that I 

sign today, and you'll get a copy of that Judgment, 

federal system, everybody that's been ordered to serve a 

sentence generally has to comply with what are known as

4

502:13

But in the6

7

8

standard conditions of supervised release, and those generally

If you violate

9

require that you live a law-abiding lifestyle, 

any laws while you're on federal paper, then you've put

1002:13

11

yourself in a position to be brought back into federal court.

The standard conditions of supervised release 

prohibit you from using street drugs. They also prohibit you 

from even associating with people that use street drugs.

You are now prohibited under federal law from even 

associating with persons that have felony convictions on their 

record, so if you associate with those types of individuals, 

former drug-using friends, for example, you've put yourself at 

great risk. Do you understand that?

12

13

14

1502:13

16

17

18

19

2002 :14

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Sir.21

And you're also prohibited from 

possessing firearms or ammunition for the rest of your life. 

The state system, it's a little bit different when you're 

convicted of a felony as to when you can recover your right to

THE COURT:22

23

24

2502:14
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bear arms. In the federal system there's a lifetime ban on 

people convicted of felonies. That penalty is determined by 

Congress — by Congress, not by judges, but there's a lifetime 

ban from possessing firearms or ammunition. Do you understand 

that?

l

2

3

4

502:14

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. Sir.6 i

THE COURT: And if -- and keep in mind that under 

federal law, possession is a rather broadly defined term. It 

certainly means you can't have a gun in your hands, but it also 

means you can't be around guns, in close proximity to guns.

And if you put yourself in that position, they're going to 

charge you with a crime of felon in possession, and with your 

career offender status, you're going to get a ten-year 

sentence, if not more. Do you understand?

7

8

9

1002 :14

11

12

13

14

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Sir.1502:15

And you'll be assigned a probation 

officer that you'll have to report to regularly, and if you 

don't report in to your federal probation officer, then 

eventually they write you up and we're back in court again. 

Any violation of these conditions of supervised release puts 

you at risk for at least another two years in prison and 

possibly more.

THE COURT:16

17

18

19

2002:15

21

22

I'm also ordering some special conditions, and they

I'm ordering that you shall participate in any 

form of drug or alcohol treatment or any other classes,

23

are as follows:24

2502:15
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programming or counseling that might be recommended by thel

United States Probation Office.2

You'll be required to submit to random drug, alcohol 

If you — if you don't show up for a 

drug test, that's considered to be a violation of this

If you've tried to tamper with a test in any way, 

that's also considered a violation of this condition.

3

screening or testing.4

502:16

condition.6

7

Another special condition that I'm ordering is that 

you shall abstain from using alcohol, street drugs, inhalants 

and synthetic drugs and all the other garbage that's out there. 

Abstain means shall not use.

8

9

1002:16

11

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Sir.12

I'm ordering as a special condition that 

you can be placed in a halfway house at any time while you're 

on supervised release.

And in the federal system, if you're on good 

behavior, which I trust that you will be, you're eligible to be 

released after you've served 85 percent of your sentence, 

if you're on good behavior, you're generally allowed to serve 

up to a year, sometimes more, of your sentence in a halfway 

house with work release privileges.

into a halfway house, you're required to follow all of their 

rules and regulations no matter how simple and petty they may 

Do you understand that?

THE COURT:13

14

1502:16

16

17

And18

19

2002 :17

But if and when you get21

22

23

24 seem.
THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Sir.2502:17
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THE COURT: And I'm also ordering a search clause for 

you, which simply means that while you're on federal paper, you 

can be searched any time, any place by a federal probation 

officer. Despite what jail house lawyers might tell you, they 

don't need search warrants to search you and search your 

residence and search motor vehicles you're traveling in or 

search cell phones or computers or any computer devices. They 

have an absolute, clearcut right to do that without a warrant, 

without a Court order. Do you understand?

l

2

3

4

502 :17

6

7

8

9

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Sir.1002:17

THE COURT: It's left up entirely to the probation 

officer. And search clauses are ordered for virtually every 

defendant in the federal criminal justice system nationwide as 

a part of a condition of supervision. Do you have any 

questions about the conditions that I've ordered?

THE DEFENDANT: Yeah, I got -- I got a couple

li

12

13

14

1502:18

16

questions.17

THE COURT: Yep.18

I'm — I probably misinterpret it. 

The recommend the treatment program in the facility that I'm

THE DEFENDANT:19

2002:18

at21

THE COURT: At what?22

The RDAP, I think it's called.THE DEFENDANT:23

I haven'tYeah, I'll recommend that too.THE COURT:24

got to that yet.2502 :18
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THE DEFENDANT: Oh, okay. No, I'm — that's why Il

2 was

THE COURT: Okay.3

THE DEFENDANT: I was kind of confused. That's all4 I

5 si r.02:18

THE COURT: Fair enough. But any other questions 

about the conditions of supervised release that I've ordered?

6

7

THE DEFENDANT: NO, Sir.8

None of them are out of the ordinary. 

They're fairly routinely ordered in cases involving drug

THE COURT:9

1002:18

offenses such as this.li

I will recommend to the Bureau of Prisons that they 

look at placing you in Oxford, Wisconsin, or Sandstone, 

Minnesota. Oxford is a medium security facility. Sandstone is 

low, I believe.

12

13

14

1502:19

i'll recommend to the Bureau of Prisons that they 

give you an opportunity to participate in the RDAP program. 

And you've heard about that, right?

16

17

18

Yes, my lawyer had told me about it,THE DEFENDANT:19

20 yes.02:19

THE COURT: Both of those facilities offer that21

RDAP is a nine-month, 500-hour drug treatment 

And if you get into the program and you successfully 

you can have up to a year of your sentence 

And generally you're allowed to serve at least a

22 program.

23 program.

complete it24 J

eliminated.2502 :19
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1 year in a halfway house of your sentence as well. It's a very

2 good program, and I'll recommend in my Judgment that BOP allow

3 you to participate in that.

But the final decision as to where you go and whether

5 you get into the RDAP program is the BOP's decision. They,

6 being the BOP, strongly urges federal judges to make

7 recommendations like I'm making for you. They tell all of us

8 federal judges that they try to follow the recommendations that

9 are made by the sentencing judge, but it doesn't always happen.

10 Sometimes where you end up is based upon the availability of

11 bed space or a whole lot of other criteria that BOP looks at

12 that I'm not even fully aware of.

Finally, I need to inform you that you do have a

14 right to appeal if you feel you haven't been treated fairly.

15 Every defendant that's sentenced in the federal system has a

16 right to appeal after their sentencing. You can appeal the

17 sentence, and you can appeal the conditions of supervised

18 release. The time period for any appeal, however, is extremely

19 short. You have 14 days to appeal starting today. Do you

20 understand that?

4

02:20

02:20

13

02:20

02:21

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Sir.21

If you wish to appeal, you need to visit 

with your attorney, Mr. Vickers, about that immediately to let

THE COURT:22

23

him know that that's the course of action that you want to

He, in turn, needs to file a simple document called a

24

25 pursue.02:21
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notice of appeal, 

that protects your appeal rights, but it's got to be filed 

within 14 days or you've lost that right to appeal forever, 

you understand?

And when that notice of appeal is filed,l

2

DO3

4

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Sir.502:21

THE COURT: I would point out that in the Plea 

Agreement that you signed, there was a paragraph called a 

waiver of appeal, which means you agreed to give up your right 

of appeal. And in the Plea Agreement you agreed that you would 

not appeal in exchange for any sentence up to the high end of 

the guidelines; in other words, any sentence up to 188 months, 

you agreed that you would not appeal that. So I believe you've 

clearly given up your right of appeal in the Plea Agreement, as 

do most defendants, virtually every defendant that signs a 

Plea Agreement also agrees that they won't appeal after they've 

been sentenced, but do you understand that?

6

7

8

9

1002:21

11

12

13

14

1502:22

16

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Sir.17

THE COURT: Okay. Either counsel have any objections 

to what I've ordered, or are there any counts to be dismissed 

or anything else that anyone believes has been overlooked here 

today?

18

19

2002:22

21

Your Honor, I guess we were just 

discussing whether the Indictment had to be dismissed, but I 

think that's automatically done by the filing of the 

Information in its place, but —

MR. SHASKY:22

23

24

2502:22
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If it's not, I'll order it dismissed.THE COURT:l

MR. SHASKY: Thanks.2

But any objections, Mr. shasky, to what'sTHE COURT:3

been ordered here today?4

MR. SHASKY: No, Your Honor.502:23

THE court: Mr. Vickers?6

MR. VICKERS: No, Your Honor.7

Mr. Butchee, any questions before weTHE COURT:8

close the hearing?9

Yes, sir, I just got — like I was 

reading in the book, like the BOP, and when you said like my 

prison sentence can get ran concurrent, like they — they kind 

of like really on the — on the — it said like they don't 

really go by the — like the Judge has to really stipulate 

that.

THE DEFENDANT:1002:23

11

12

13

14

1502:23

I'll make it very clear in my Judgment. 

I'll cite them to the specific sentencing guideline provision

I'll make it very clear that it's

THE COURT:16

17

that I'm relying upon, 

concurrent to the remaining sentence that you have in

I'll reference that particular case file number in

18

19

Minnesota.2002:23

Minnesota.21

And if there's a problem with it at some later date, 

you can let your attorney know, and I can -- if BOP starts 

blowing smoke in your face and telling you that they're not 

going to honor what I did, then let your attorney know, and

22

23

24

2502:24
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l I'll make sure that I correct the Judgment and they do what I

2 ordered.

THE DEFENDANT: Thank you. sir.3 I

THE COURT: All right. Good luck to you.

We are adjourned.

(Proceedings concluded at 2:24 p.m., the same day.)
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UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS 
FOR THE EIGHTH CIRCUIT

No: 18-3498

United States of America

Plaintiff - Appellee

v.

James Marione Butchee, also known as Knowledge

Defendant - Appellant

Appeal from U.S. District Court for the District of North Dakota - Fargo
(3:17-cr-00060-DLH-1)

JUDGMENT

Before BENTON, SHEPHERD, and KELLY, Circuit Judges.

This appeal from the United States District Court was submitted on the record of the

district court and briefs of the parties.

After consideration, it is hereby ordered and adjudged that the appeal is dismissed in

accordance with the opinion of this Court.

August 22, 2019

Order Entered in Accordance with Opinion: 
Clerk, U.S. Court of Appeals, Eighth Circuit.

/s/ Michael E. Gans
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Submitted: August 14, 2019 
Filed: August 22, 2019 

[Unpublished]

Before BENTON, SHEPHERD, and KELLY, Circuit Judges.

PER CURIAM.

James Butchee appeals after he signed a Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 

11(c)(1)(C) plea agreement containing an appeal waiver, entered a guilty plea, and

Appellate Case: 18-3498 Page: 1 Date Filed: 08/22/2019 Entry ID: 4821965



was sentenced by the district court1 in accordance with the plea agreement. In a brief 

filed under Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738 (1967), his counsel acknowledges the 

appeal waiver, and presents Butchee’s view that his base offense level was 

miscalculated. Counsel has also moved for leave to withdraw. In a pro se brief, 
Butchee argues that he was erroneously classified as a career offender, and that 
counsel was ineffective.

We decline, on direct appeal, to consider any claims of ineffective assistance 

of counsel. See United States v. Hernandez, 281 F.3d 746, 749 (8th Cir. 2002) (in 

general, ineffective-assistance claim is not cognizable on direct appeal; such claim 

is properly raised in 28 U.S.C. § 2255 action). As to the remaining issues, we enforce 

the appeal waiver. See United States v. Scott, 627 F.3d 702,704 (8th Cir. 2010) (de 

novo review of validity and applicability of appeal waiver); United States v. Andis, 
333 F.3d 886, 889-92 (8th Cir. 2003) (en banc) (appeal waiver will be enforced if 

appeal falls within scope of waiver, defendant knowingly and voluntarily entered into 

plea agreement and waiver, and enforcing waiver would not result in miscarriage of 

justice).

Having reviewed the record pursuant to Penson v. Ohio, 488 U.S. 75 (1988), 
we find no non-frivolous issues for appeal outside the scope of the appeal waiver. 
Accordingly, we dismiss this appeal, and we grant counsel leave to withdraw.

'The Honorable Daniel L. Hovland, Chief Judge, United States District Court 
for the District of North Dakota.
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